


He was also entitled to display a baronet’s badge on his arms (Fig. 52). The badge is a white escutcheon, 
on which is depicted a red upright left hand, open toward the spectator, cut at the wrist: a sinister hand 
appaume couped at the wrist and erect Gules. The badge should not be confused with the Red Hand of 
Ulster which is a right hand cut at the wrist. The rank of baronet is hereditary and has precedence 
over other knights. It was created by James I (1603-1625) in 1611 to raise money to support his troops 
in Ireland. 

Sir Thomas’ arms are quartered with those of his wife, Mary, daughter and heraldic heiress of the 
Reverend John Michell, bd frs, rector of the Parish Church of St Michael and All Angels, Thornhill 
in Yorkshire. The Michell arms first appear in the 1620 Visitation of Cornwall as a seven generation 
pedigree of Michell of St Collomb. These are blazoned Sable an escallop between three birds’ heads 
erased Or (Fig. 53). An escallop is a stylized shell and erased means torn off horizontally leaving a ragged 
edge. The Turton pedigree further stated that John Michell married Sarah, heraldic heiress of Luke 
Williamson of Rolleston. The arms for Williamson were confirmed in the 1664 Visitation of Norfolk 
to Thomas Williamson, gentleman, of North Lopham. These are blazoned Argent on a chevron 
engrailed Azure between three trefoils slipped Sable as many crescents Or (Fig. 54). This means there are 
two trefoils above the chevron and one below with three gold crescents on the chevron, although in the 
window the black and blue tinctures have been transposed. Nevertheless Mary Michell was thus a 
double heraldic heiress.

The Turton arms have two crests, one for Turton on the dexter side, and the other for Williamson.

The Turton crest is described as: Out of a mural coronet Argent a cubit arm, erect, vested Vert, cuff of the 
first, holding in the hand proper a banner, per pale, Argent and of the second, fringed Or, staff also of the first, 
headed Or (Fig. 55). In other words an erect arm, cut off below the elbow, with a green sleeve and white 
cuff emerging from a coronet, masoned as if it were made of blocks, holding a white and green banner 
with a gold fringe and a gold top. (I have found nothing in my researches to indicate the significance 
of the crest.)

The Williamson crest is a demi pegasus Or winged Azure charged on the shoulder with a rose Gules barbed 
and seeded proper dimidiating per fess a sunburst Argent (Fig. 56).

Again in other words the upper half of a golden pegasus with blue wings, having on its shoulder a 
charge depicting the upper half of a red rose and the lower half of a sunburst depicting rays of the 
sun shining downwards from behind a cloud (Fig. 57). It is difficult to see the detail of the charge as 
depicted in the window. The term dimidiation means using part of a shield or charge when depicting 
armorial devices in a coat of arms. A sunburst depicts the sun’s rays issuing from behind a stylized 
cloud. In the window the demi pegasus is incorrectly blazoned silver. 
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Mr William Hunt, Windsor Herald of Arms, who provided me with the detail of the Turton arms, 
could find no evidence of the Michell and Williamson arms being made an indivisible coat by 
Royal Licence and therefore no reason for the way the arms are displayed in the window. He would 
have expected that the Turton arms would be in the 1st and 4th quarters with Michell in the 2nd and 
Williamson in the 3rd. Moreover he could find no  evidence for the Turtons having a right to the crest 
of Michell as well as Turton. 

As an aside the Reverend John Michell was both a caring priest and a distinguished academic. He 
was a Fellow of Queen’s College, Cambridge, Woodwardian Professor of Geology and a Fellow of the 
Royal Society. He was the first person to put forward an explanation of why earthquakes occur. He 
designed an apparatus to determine the mass of the earth and was the first to predict the existence 
of what we call ‘black holes’. The Thornhill church records record the death of his wife, Ann in 
1818, which suggests that Sarah Williamson predeceased him. The Thornhill local history group is 
researching this point. The medieval Michell family lived in the Truro area of Cornwall. The pedigree 
states that Peter Michell, a sea captain accompanied Sir Francis Drake on his voyage round the world 
from 1577 to 1580. The Cornish pronunciation of Michell is as it were with a ‘t’. Hence the frequent 
misspellings of his name.

The problem with the Turton Arms is that it is difficult to see the detail from the ground. The 
window was erected by the 1st baronet’s “beloved daughter” Sarah, sister of the 2nd baronet. Sarah left 
a charitable foundation for the benefit of the poor of Lingfield, now part of the United Charities. 
Another of the 1st baronet’s daughters, Susannah, married James Patteson St Clair. The St Clairs and 
Sarah Turton took care of their brother’s affairs in this country and assisted all of his ten children, 
paying the costs of his three sons’ education.

The 2nd baronet died in Mauritius in 1854, while en route home from India. Earlier he had caused a 
scandal by being divorced by his wife Louisa Turton nee Browne for having a “criminal conversation” 
with her sister, Adeline Browne. Subsequently they lived openly as man and wife in Calcutta, where he 
practised law. He became bankrupt. It is thought that Sarah paid for the memorial window in order to 
restore the prestige of the family. The baronetcy became extinct on Sir Thomas’ death since according 
to the terms of the divorce settlement of 1831 his children were declared illegitimate. The settlement 
also ordered that “it shall not be lawful for the said T. E. M Turton at any time hereafter to contract 
matrimony with the said Adeline Browne”. How times have changed! 

The chapel has a number wall tablets to the Turton family. Sir Thomas who died in 1860, and his wife 
Mary (1837) and two of their daughters, Mary who died aged 16 and Lucy aged 23 are recorded on 
one. Their 3rd daughter, the ‘beloved’ Sarah who died in 1860 on another and the three sons of the 2nd 
baronet, all of whom had military careers, on a third. Susannah Turton’s husband, Col. James Patteson 
St Clair is remembered on a tablet on the south wall of the Turton Chapel.

THE FARINDON FAMILY

On the north wall of the Lady Chapel are wall tablets to six generations of the Farindon family together 
with a hatchment. The Farindons bought Batnors (sometimes Batners) Hall and the associated 
tannery and lands in 1684. The hall has been integrated into Notre Dame School. The Farindons were 
numerous in the Middle Ages. The Batnor Farindons were descended from Sir Richard Farindon of 
Chichester whose arms are:  Argent a chevron Gules with three leopards’ heads, i.e. a silver shield with 
a red chevron with three leopards’ heads, two above the chevron and one below (Fig. 58). The heads 
are depicted as Sable. The arms can be seen on the wall tablet to Anthony Farindon who died in 1730 
and his wife Elizabeth, who died in 1732. Her arms are impaled with her husband’s but are somewhat 
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disfigured. However is possible to make out a chevron Gules with three what appear to be maple 
leaves. Another wall tablet has the arms of Elizabeth Farindon who died in 1743 (Fig. 59). She was the 
wife of Anthony Farindon’s son, also Anthony. They lived in the Grange, Felcourt. The arms are the 
Farindon leopard heads with an escutcheon of pretence: dexter a lymphad or galley in full sail, and 
sinister a hart trippant, the arms of Elizabeth’s father, James Parker of ‘Ryegate’ (Fig. 60).

Fig. .  BENNETTFig. .  LANEFig. .  FARINDON

HATCHMENT

Fig. .  BOWYER

Harts are mature stags and are often described as trippant i.e. having one foreleg raised, usually the 
left one, which should not be confused with passant (Fig. 17).  

The Farindon Hatchment is of great interest (Fig. 61). A hatchment is a diamond shaped memorial 
board on which were painted an amorial person’s arms. From the 17th century they were frequently used 
as funeral devices which would be displayed at the family home for a time and then placed in church 
in the family chapel or near the family vault. The deceased’s arms would be painted against a black 
background. If the deceased was married the surviving spouse’s arms would be painted on a white 
background. The hatchment in church was painted for the funeral of Louisa Lane, nee Farindon who 
died in 1832. She was the last of the Batnor Farindons. She was married to Thomas Lane, a London 
solicitor who died in 1859, who too was an armiger. They lived in Farindons in Dormansland which 
he built in about 1820. 

The hatchment shows the Lane arms impaling Farindon. The Lane arms are quarterly 1st and 4th 
Azure and Gules three crescents one in centre and two in base Argent between three saltaires couped two and 
one Or (Fig. 62). A couped saltaire is one where the arms of the saltaire are cut short. The 2nd quarter Or a 
bend Vair cotised Gules, for Bowyer (Fig. 63). A bend cotised means that the bend has a closet or diminutive 
of the bend on either side of it. The 3rd quarter Gules a bezant between three demi-lions rampant Argent, 
for Bennett (Fig. 64). A bezant is a gold roundel. 
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AND SUBSEQUENT

The Lane family had many branches but somewhere down the line they had married girls from the 
Bowyer and Bennett families, both ancient and distinguished in their own right. The motto is CEDE 
DEO (Yield to God). The hatchment was discovered in the crypt and restored in 1922.

THE ROYAL ARMS OF QUEEN ANNE

These are displayed on the south wall above the belfry door. Royal arms were erected in churches as 
tokens of loyalty to the crown, the more so when Henry VIII assumed the title of ‘Supreme Head on 
Earth of the Church of England’. Most royal arms were removed during the reign of the Catholic 
Queen Mary I but the practice was resumed by her successor, Elizabeth I (1558-1603).  

I have referred to the royal arms in the chancel window earlier. Edward III used France Ancient, as 
many fleur de lis as could be fitted into the space available (Fig. 38). Henry IV adopted France Modern 
(i.e. just three fleur de lis) quartered with the three lions of England (Fig. 39). Henry IV’s arms were 
used until 1603 when James VI of Scotland succeeded to the English throne. The arms of Scotland 
(Or a lion rampant within a double tressure flory counter flory) and those of Ireland (Azure a harp Or 
stringed Argent), a gold harp with silver strings on a blue shield, were added as the 2nd and 3rd quarters 
respectively with those of France and England (Fig. 65). These were used subsequently by the Stuarts. 
In 1707 with the Act of Union the Stuart Arms were changed so that the English and Scottish coats 
were impaled in the 1st and 4th quarterings, with those of France and Ireland respectively occupying 
the 2nd and 3rd quarters (Fig. 66). In 1801 George III (1760-1820) dropped the pretence that England had 
any claim to the throne of France and did away with the fleur de lis. In her turn Victoria (1837-1901) 
dropped the Hanoverian escutcheon used by the Georges III and IV (1820-1830), and William IV 
(1830-1837). Victoria’s arms have been used subsequently by the House of Windsor (Fig. 67).

The royal arms displayed in Lingfield are the Stuart Arms and would have been painted between 1702 
and 1707, and bear the letters A and R — Anne Regina and the motto ‘SEMPER EADEM’ (Always 
the same).

The quartered shield is surrounded by the Garter with the motto ‘HONI SOIR QUI MAL Y 
PENSE’, Old French for ‘Shame on him who evil thinks’. This refers back to when Edward III 
allegedly retrieved a lady’s garter which had slipped to ground and tied it to his left leg below the knee. 
Garters were not worn exclusively by ladies at that time and as a badge of honour could be displayed 
conveniently below the knee both at court and when on horseback.

The crest is a lion statant guardant crowned Or, i.e. a gold crowned lion standing on all four feet with 
the head turned facing the observer.  Over the years several beasts have been used as ‘supporters’ on 
either side of the royal arms including lions, white harts, greyhounds, boars and dragons, but since 
1603 the lion and the unicorn have remained constant and are used today.
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OTHER EXAMPLES OF HERALDRY TO BE SEEN IN THE CHURCH

The above describes the principal heraldry to be seen in the church but there are four other examples 
which for completeness deserve a mention. 

The Gridley Memorial Window

This window is otherwise known as the Transfiguration Window and is in the south wall by the 
organ. It was erected in memory of Henry Amelius Adams Gridley who died in 1884 aged 29. He 
was the eldest son of Henry Gillet Gridley. The Gridley arms are shown on a panel at the base of the 
window. The arms are blazoned quarterly 1st and 4th: Gules three bendlets enhanced Or. Enhanced means 
that the three narrow bends or bendlets are raised above their customary position on the shield. The 
heraldic significance of the black hatching against the Gules is not clear. It is certainly unusual. The 2nd 
and 3rd quarters are: Ermine three tigers statant guardant proper Or (Figs. 68-70). The word proper means 
that the colouring of the charge, the three tigers, is in their natural tawny with black stripes. In chief 
overall we again see the three pointed cadency label Argent denoting that the deceased was the eldest 
son. The crest is out of a ducal coronet, a demi-lion rampant Azure langured Argent holding between 
its forepaws a pleon Argent (Fig. 71). A pleon is an arrow head. A ducal coronet despite its name has no 
nobiliary significance. 

The problem with Gridley memorial window is that I have been unable to find out why it was erected 
in Lingfield or why Henry Amelius Adams was buried in the church yard not far from the south door, 
given that the family held no property in the parish. Henry Gridley, according to his will of 1890, lived 
in Kensington, was a member of the Inner Temple, had been an MP and was a Deputy Lieutenant 
of the Tower of London. By rights he should have had country house but there is no mention of 
one in his will. He died in 1891 aged 70 and left most of his estate to his wife, Elizabeth nee Adams 
formerly from Edgbaston, Warwickshire. His executors were his son Reginald C M G Gridley and 
his nephew Alfred Robert Margary of Chartham Park, Felcourt. Alfred’s mother, Georgina nee 
Adams was Elizabeth Gridley’s sister and Alfred and Henry were cousins and of much the same age. 
The Margarys purchased Chartham Park in 1850 and many of the family are buried in Lingfield. The 
extent to which the Gridleys used Chartham Park as their country ‘retreat’ is not known but there is 
no doubt that the window is of especial quality and the church benefits accordingly.  

The George V Coronation Window

This window is in the north wall and was given by Hans Henry Konig to celebrate the coronation of 
George V which took place in 1911.The window was unveiled by Princess Marie Louise, a granddaughter 
of Queen Victoria. It is very detailed but does include two shields, one shows a reproduction of the west 



front of Westminster Abbey and the other has a horizontal black 
panel at the top with a yellow lion’s head either side of which are 
the letters X. On the lower half of the shield is a yellow foliated 
tree with a black trunk and branches on a yellow background (Fig 
72). At the base of the eastern light an angel is depicted holding 
a black pennant vertically on which the detail on the shield is 
repeated. The heraldic significance of this is unclear. Konig was a 
wealthy European émigré who with his brother was a merchant 
banker in the City of London. He built Ardenrun Hall between 
1906 and 1909. It is suggested that he commissioned the window 
to make his mark locally as a true compatriot although this did 
not save him from being interned at the outbreak of the Second 
World War. 
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Widnell Floor Slab in the Chancel Floor

The slab is dedicated to Guilielmus Widnellus (William Widnell) who died in 1662. The Latin 
inscription warns against treading on so sacred a tomb. A translation is at Annex B. The slab has the 
Widnell coat of arms. The family has a Lincolnshire pedigree. One William Widnell was master of the 
Merchant Taylors Company in 1586. He was married to a  Mary Taylor from London and Tandridge. 
His will of 1601 indicates he was a wealthy man with estates in Surrey, Yorkshire and Lincolnshire. He 
left his furniture from his house, Shawes, in Tandridge Parish, together with his ‘armour and weapons 
and furniture for warre’, to his eldest son, also William, to whom the slab is dedicated. The furniture 
for war presumably would be armour for a war horse. The Widnell pedigree blazons the arms: Azure 
on a chevron Or between three ostriches (or turkey cocks) argent as many mullets gules. The Widnell arms 
are impaling, possibly, Taylor: in chief a lion passant three cinquefoils below (Fig. 73).

It will be noticed that there are no tinctures on the slab. The 
Taylor blazons always included a lion passant.  There is mantling 
and a crest bearing a bird with elevated and displayed wings. The 
motto reads: VANA SALUS HOMINUS: ‘Vain is the safety of 
man’. 

William Widnell is named as one of the Surrey landowners who 
petitioned the Lord Chancellor in 1610 against a proposal to divert 
water from the River Wandle to supply the City of London. The 
river then powered some twenty four water mills which ground 
most of the corn for both the Court and the capital. Over the 
years the protection of the precarious water supply has always 
been a contentious issue. The petition succeeded and the dire 
economic consequences claimed by the Surrey wheat farmers 
and the market towns of Reigate and Dorking were avoided. 

Shawes was held by the manor of Felcourt and was in that part of Tandridge Parish which straddled 
the Newchapel Road. Tandridge Parish runs north/south, is very narrow and is no more than two 
fields wide at its southern end. Shawes is shown on the Sellers map of 1690. Later maps show Shawes 
Farm occupying the site. The Shawlands complex occupies the site now. Although not William’s 
parish church, St Peter’s, Lingfield was much nearer to the Widnell home than St Peter’s Tandridge.



Wall Tablet to Sir James Burrow 

Sir James Burrow was one time owner of Starborough Castle whose 
memorial tablet displays his coat of arms blazoned: Azure three fl eur de lis 
Or between the two upper a mullet Argent (Fig. 74). 

Sir James was born in 1701, called to the bar in 1725, was treasurer of the 
Inner Temple in 1763, knighted in 1773, was a distinguished Fellow of the 
Antiquarian Society and twice president of the Royal Society. He died at 
Starborough on 5th November 1782. His memorial records that:

Few have passed through life better contented with their lot, 
or have enjoyed it with more satisfaction and thankfulness. 

An epitaph to be the envy of us all.

Michael Poffl  ey B Sc Econ
RH7 History Group 
July 2015

Locating Church Heraldry
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1. Ist Lord Cobham’s Tomb Chest
2. 2nd Lord Cobham’s Tomb Chest
3.  Sir Reginald Cobham’s Tomb Chest
4.  South Window with Royal Arms
5.  John Hadesham
6, 7. Howard Family
8. Sir Thomas Turton

LOCATING CHURCH HERALDRY:

WEST EAST

9. Farindon Memorials
10. Farindon Hatchment
11.  Royal Arms of Queen Anne
12.  Gridley Memorial Window
13.  George V Coronation Window
14. Widnell Floor Slab
15. Sir John Burrow Memorial



ANNEXES

Annex A

The Effingham Cartouche

M S (most sacred to the Memory) of the most noble and honourable / Francis Lord Howard / Baron of Effingham / 
much beloved Viceroy of Virginia / in the West Indies / under his serene Highness / the illustrious Charles II / King of 
the British Isles / to his subject a lion of justice / firmest and finest of friends / conspicuous in generosity to his inferiors 
/ and in the affording a noble / example of affection for his dearest / wife Philadelphia /next whose ashes / he wished 
when he died his own to be placed / so that an embrace which death itself / was scance able to sever / might at length be 
renewed in a happy / Resurrection / until which time / let this tomb be disturbed / by no profane hand / He died on the 
30th of March 1695

M S / here beneath / with her own kin in her dear native land / at length at rest the well-beloved / Philadelphia / 
daughter of Thomas Pelham Baronet of / Laughton in the county of Sussex; / the dearest deeply regretted wife / of 
Francis Lord Howard Baron of Effingham / by favour of his serene Majesty / Charles II, Governor General of Virginia 
/ Lo astonished reader! / You are treading on wondrous things! / Heavenly dust / A woman endowed with all the 
virtues. / Of piety towards God from her youth / Of ceaseless charity towards the needy / Towards the husband of her 
choice. / Of the strictest conjugal affection; / Of ineffable sweetness of manner towards all, / Rarely to be equaled. / 
In a well timed search for perfection, / You may chance at last somewhere to find / her peer / Certainly no where her 
superior /She breathed out her saintly shriven soul / Ripe for heaven in Virginia / Exiled thither of her own free will at 
the / Call of duty and affection / August 13 1685 Aged 31 

Translation in the Parish Magazine of July 1902. Article by Rev W A Bryan.

Annex B

The Guiliemus Widnellus Floor Slab

Vain is the safety of man. Stay thy step traveller, and mark this tomb sacred to piety and him whom it has now begun 
to hold, William Widnellus, here he lies in death, sprung from noble stock. A spectacle of humility, and also (now) a 
poor representation of virtue within. His nobility of birth was excelled by his gifts of sincerity and honour. And on the 
eighteenth day of November he was carried off by untimely death.

Translation by Rev W A Bryan 1903.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Mrs Janet Bateson, RH7 History Group  

Jeremy Clarke Esq, Felbridge History Group

W G Hunt Esq, Windsor Herald of Arms

Mrs Mavis Priestley, RH7 History Group

Anthony J Ridley Esq, Thornhill Parish Church, Yorkshire

Richard Frewin Poffley Esq, for his work on drawing the blazons

SOURCES

The History and Antiquities of the County of Surrey 1804–14, Manning O and Bray W 

History of Lingfield 1973 Francis H Napier (manuscript copy Lingfield Library)

A Grammar of Heraldry  Stephen Friar 1992 Sutton Publishing 

Death, Art, and Memory in Medieval England 2001 Nigel Saul OUP

Surrey Archeological Collections Vol II 1864, Vol 21 1907 & Vol XXX 1917

Surrey Archeological Collections Stained Glass in Surrey Churches 1930

Surrey History Vol XII  2013 Surrey Archeological Society

The NADFAS Record of Lingfield Church Furnishings 2001  

The Royal College of Arms

Norwich Record Office

Truro Record Office

© 2015  Michael Poffley


